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DECISION 

The Federal Trade Commission initiated an investigation of the proposed merger between 
Respondent Exxon Mobil Corporation (“Exxon” or “Respondent”) and Pioneer Natural 
Resources Company. The Commission’s Bureau of Competition prepared and furnished to 
Respondent the Draft Complaint, which it proposed to present to the Commission for its 
consideration.  If issued by the Commission, the Draft Complaint would charge Respondent with 
violations of Section 7 of the Clayton Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 18, and Section 5 of the 
Federal Trade Commission Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 45. 

Respondent and the Bureau of Competition executed an Agreement Containing Consent 
Order (“Consent Agreement”) containing (1) an admission by Respondent of all the 
jurisdictional facts set forth in the Draft Complaint, (2) a statement that the signing of said 
agreement is for settlement purposes only and does not constitute an admission by Respondent 
that the law has been violated as alleged in the Draft Complaint, or that the facts as alleged in the 
Draft Complaint, other than jurisdictional facts, are true, (3) waivers and other provisions as 
required by the Commission’s Rules, and (4) a proposed Decision and Order. 

The Commission considered the matter and determined that it had reason to believe that 
Respondent has violated the said Acts, and that a complaint should issue stating its charges in 
that respect.  The Commission accepts the executed Consent Agreement and places it on the 
public record for a period of 30 days for the receipt and consideration of public comments.  In 
further conformity with the procedure described in Commission Rule 2.34, 16 C.F.R. § 2.34, the 
Commission issues its Complaint, makes the following jurisdictional findings, and issues the 
following Decision and Order (“Order”): 

1. Respondent Exxon Mobil Corporation is a corporation organized, existing, and 
doing business under, and by virtue of, the laws of the State of New Jersey with 
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its executive offices and principal place of business located at 22777 Springwoods 
Village Parkway, Spring, Texas 77389-1425. 

2. The Commission has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this proceeding and 
over the Respondent, and the proceeding is in the public interest. 

ORDER 

 Definitions 

IT IS ORDERED that, as used in this Order, the following definitions apply: 

A. “Exxon” or “Respondent” means Exxon Mobil Corporation, its directors, officers, 
employees, agents, representatives, successors, and assigns; and the joint ventures, 
subsidiaries, partnerships, divisions, groups, and affiliates controlled by Exxon Mobil 
Corporation, and the respective directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, 
successors, and assigns of each.  After the Merger, Respondent shall include Pioneer. 

B. “Pioneer” means Pioneer Natural Resources Company, a corporation organized, existing, 
and doing business under, and by virtue of, the laws of the State of Delaware with its 
executive offices and principal place of business located at 5205 North O’Connor Blvd., 
Suite 200, Irving, Texas 75039. 

C. “Commission” means the Federal Trade Commission. 
D. “Director” means a member of the Board of Directors as that term is used in Section 8 of 

the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 19. 
E. “Exxon Board” means the Board of Directors of Exxon Mobil Corporation. 
F. “Merger” means the proposed merger described in the Agreement and Plan of Merger by 

and among Pioneer Natural Resources Company, Exxon Mobil Corporation, and SPQR, 
LLC dated October 10, 2023. 

G. “Merger Date” means the date Respondent consummates the Merger.   
H. “Officer” means “an officer elected or chosen by the Board of Directors” as that term is 

defined in Section 8 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 19(a)(4). 
I. “Order” means this Decision and Order entered in this action. 
J. “Pioneer Representative” means any person either employed by Pioneer or a Director of 

Pioneer during the calendar year prior to the Merger Date except those persons identified 
in Nonpublic Appendix A. 

K. “Scott Sheffield” means Scott D. Sheffield, a natural person, and former CEO of Pioneer. 
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 Prohibition on Board Appointment 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

A. Respondent shall not, directly or indirectly, nominate, designate, or appoint Scott 
Sheffield (i) to the Exxon Board or (ii) to serve in an advisory capacity in any way to the 
Exxon Board or to Respondent’s management. 

B. For a period of 5 years, Respondent shall not, directly or indirectly, nominate, designate, 
or appoint a Pioneer Representative to the Exxon Board. 

C. No person shall at the same time, serve as an Officer or Director of Exxon Mobil 
Corporation, and as an Officer or Director of another corporation if such interlock would 
be in violation of the terms of Section 8 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 19 with respect 
to Respondent. 

 Conflicts Compliance  

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

A. Within 10 days from the date this Order is issued, Respondent shall distribute a copy of 
this Order to each of Exxon’s Officers and Directors. 

B. Within 30 days of the date this Order is issued and annually thereafter, Respondent shall 
obtain from each of Exxon’s Officers and Directors information sufficient to show that 
Respondent is in compliance with Section II, including, for example a sworn declaration 
from such person noting their previous and current employment and positions.  

C. Within 10 days of joining the Exxon Board, Respondent shall distribute a copy of this 
Order to each of Exxon’s newly elected or appointed Officers or Directors. 

 Compliance Reports 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:  

A. Respondent shall notify Commission staff via email at bccompliance@ftc.gov of the 
Merger Date. 

B. Respondent shall submit a verified written report (“compliance reports”) in accordance 
with the following:  
1. Respondent shall submit an initial compliance report 60 days after this Order is 

issued; annual compliance reports one year after the date this Order is issued, and 
annually for the next 9 years on the anniversary of that date; and additional 
compliance reports as the Commission or its staff may request; 

2. Each compliance report shall contain sufficient information and documentation to 
enable the Commission to determine independently whether Respondent is in 
compliance with the Order.  Conclusory statements that Respondent has complied 

mailto:bccompliance@ftc.gov
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with their obligations under this Order are insufficient.  Respondent shall include 
in its reports, among other information or documentation that may be necessary to 
demonstrate compliance: 
a. a full description of the measures Respondent has implemented or plans to 

implement to ensure that it has complied or will comply with each 
paragraph of this Order; and 

b. copies of the documents collected pursuant to Paragraph III.B. 
3. For a period of 5 years after filing a compliance report, Respondent shall retain all 

material written communications with each party identified in each compliance 
report and all non-privileged internal memoranda, reports, and recommendations 
concerning fulfilling Respondent’s obligations under this Order during the period 
covered by such compliance report.  Respondent shall provide copies of these 
documents to Commission staff upon request. 

4. Respondent shall verify its compliance reports in the manner set forth in 28 
U.S.C. § 1746 by the Chief Executive Officer or another officer or employee 
specifically authorized to perform this function.  If the compliance report is 
verified by someone other than the Chief Executive Officer, Respondent shall 
include documentation in the compliance report establishing that the verifier is 
authorized to verify the compliance report on behalf of the Respondent.  
Respondent shall file its compliance reports with the Secretary of the Commission 
at ElectronicFilings@ftc.gov and the Compliance Division at 
bccompliance@ftc.gov, as required by Commission Rule 2.41(a), 16 C.F.R. § 
2.41(a).   

 Change in Respondent 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent shall notify the Commission: 

A. At least 30 days prior to: 
1. The proposed dissolution of Exxon Mobil Corporation, 
2. The proposed acquisition, merger, or consolidation of Exxon Mobil Corporation; 

or 
3. Any other change in the Respondent, including assignment and the creation, sale, 

or dissolution of subsidiaries, if such change may affect compliance obligations 
arising out of this Order; and 

B. No later than 10 days after Respondent files a petition for bankruptcy. 

  Access 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, for purposes of determining or securing compliance 
with this Order, and subject to any legally recognized privilege, upon written request and 5 days’ 

mailto:ElectronicFilings@ftc.gov
mailto:bccompliance@ftc.gov
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notice to the Respondent, made to its principal place of business as identified in this Order, 
registered office of its United States subsidiary, or its headquarters office, Respondent shall, 
without restraint or interference, permit any duly authorized representative of the Commission: 

A. Access, during business office hours of the Respondent and in the presence of counsel, to 
all facilities and access to inspect and copy all business and other records and all 
documentary material and electronically stored information as defined in Commission  
Rules 2.7(a)(1) and (2), 16 C.F.R. § 2.7(a)(1) and (2), in the possession or under the 
control of the Respondent related to compliance with this Order, which copying services 
shall be provided by the Respondent at the request of the authorized representative of the 
Commission and at the expense of the Respondent; or 

B. To interview officers, directors, or employees of the Respondent, who may have counsel 
present, regarding such matters. 

 Purpose 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the purpose of this Order is to remedy the harm to 
competition the Commission alleged in its Complaint.  

 Term 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this Order shall terminate 10 years from the date it is 
issued. 

By the Commission. 
 
 
 

April Tabor 
Secretary 

 
 
SEAL 
 
 
ISSUED: 
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Nonpublic Appendix A 
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